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Summary

In an increasingly interconnected world, public health concerns and crises have domestic and international implications. In the United States, the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act of 1938 (FD&C Act or the Act) promotes public health by preventing fraudulent activity with respect to food, drugs, and an array of other public health products that enter interstate commerce. Indeed, the Act's primary purpose is to "safeguard" and "protect" consumers from exposure to dangerous products affecting public health and safety. The FD&C Act does this by regulating covered articles from their introduction into interstate commerce to their delivery to the ultimate consumer. This report provides an overview of the FD&C Act, answers frequently asked questions about the Act's enforcement, and discusses the Act's various civil and criminal enforcement provisions.

The FD&C Act is the main federal law regulating the safety of most foods, food additives, color additives, dietary supplements, prescription and non-prescription drugs, medical devices, cosmetics, and tobacco products. While the Act regulates a host of disparate products, it generally prohibits two basic acts: "adulteration" and "misbranding." Specifically, FD&C Act Section 301 makes it illegal to distribute directly or indirectly a covered product in interstate commerce that is adulterated or misbranded. The Act defines the terms "adulteration" and "misbranding" with respect to specific products.

The FD&C Act is chiefly enforced by the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA), an agency whose general mission is to promote and protect the public health by ensuring the safety, efficacy, and truthful labeling of the products it regulates. FDA enforces the Act through administrative mechanisms, such as pre-market reviews of certain products, examinations and investigations, and dissemination of information to the public. While primarily focused on interstate commerce, FDA's authority extends to intrastate activities that have a nexus with interstate commerce and concern a product that the Act covers. Supreme Court precedent recognizes that FDA enjoys significant discretion over enforcement of most FD&C Act provisions. Because FDA, like most executive agencies, does not have independent litigating authority, it must coordinate with the Department of Justice (DOJ) to pursue criminal or civil remedies. In addition to DOJ, other federal agencies play a role in enforcing discrete parts of the Act; private parties, however, do not have rights to enforce the FD&C Act through lawsuits.

For serious FD&C Act violations, the FDA, in coordination with DOJ, has a wide range of civil and criminal remedies. For example, the FD&C Act authorizes the government to sue violators of the Act in court in order to punish or prevent future violations. Such civil actions include imposing money penalties, injunctions, and seizures. Other enforcement actions include warning letters, import alerts, recalls, and debarments. For extremely serious violations, FDA and DOJ may collaborate to bring criminal charges. A criminal violation of the FD&C Act does not require that the perpetrator have a "guilty mind." Intentional or repeated violations of the Act may result in multiple years of imprisonment and significant criminal fines.
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Enforcement of the Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act: Select Legal Issues



Introduction

In an increasingly interconnected world, public health concerns and crises have domestic and international implications. In 2015, a salmonella outbreak associated with cucumbers imported from Mexico affected 907 people in 40 states, causing 6 deaths;1 while an October 2012 outbreak of fungal meningitis caused by steroid injections prepared at a Massachusetts compounding pharmacy resulted in over 60 deaths.2 In another incident, counterfeit Heparin imported from China in 2008 resulted in at least 80 deaths in the United States, and contaminated products in at least 10 other countries' drug supplies.3 Beyond preventing public health crises, Congress has a strong interest in ensuring that products consumed by Americans work as intended and are truthfully labeled.4

The Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act of 1938 (FD&C Act or the Act) promotes national public health by preventing fraudulent activity with respect to food, drugs, and an array of other public health products.5 The FD&C Act and its implementing regulations contain standards to protect and promote public health, including requirements for prescription drug approval6 and food safety.7 Providing an overview of the Act's enforcement, this report discusses the Act's civil and criminal provisions and enforcement mechanisms.

Overview of the Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act

The FD&C Act regulates most foods,8 food additives,9 color additives,10 dietary supplements,11 prescription and non-prescription drugs,12 medical devices,13 cosmetics,14 and tobacco products15 for safety.16 Congress enacted the FD&C Act in 1938,17 acting pursuant to its constitutional authority to regulate interstate commerce.18 The Act's primary purpose is to "safeguard" and "protect" consumers from "dangerous products" affecting public health and safety by regulating covered articles from the "moment of their introduction into interstate commerce all the way to the moment of their delivery to the ultimate consumer."19 The FD&C Act is enforced through a variety of measures such as formal and informal administrative actions, criminal and civil penalties, injunctions, recalls, and/or seizures of FD&C Act-covered goods.20

Though the FD&C Act has been "substantially amended since 1938," the Act "still retains its basic structure."21 The "heart of the enforcement provisions of the" FD&C Act is Section 301, which enumerates specific prohibited acts.22 The FD&C Act prohibitions have been described as "a catalogue of definitions elaborating two basic concepts: 'adulteration' and 'misbranding.'"23 Section 301 generally makes it illegal to distribute directly or indirectly a covered product in interstate commerce that is "adulterated" or "misbranded."24 The FD&C Act "ascrib[es] the labels 'adulterated' or 'misbranded' to products whose composition, production or labeling fails" to meet the Act's substantive requirements.25 For example, the FD&C Act deems a "food" adulterated if it has been held under "insanitary conditions,"26 and a "drug" misbranded if its label does not contain the "name and place of business of the manufacturer, packer, or distributor."27 The language of the FD&C Act is "purposefully broad,"28 providing the executive branch significant discretion over implementing rules and guidelines.29 Table 1  notes FD&C Act sections that identify when a particular product can be deemed "adulterated" or "misbranded."



Table 1. Adulteration and Misbranding Provisions of the FD&C Act












	Article Regulated

	FD&C Act Section

	Adulteration

	Misbranding




	Food & Food Additives

	402

	X

	 





	Food & Food Additives

	403

	 


	X




	Infant Formula

	412

	X

	 





	Dietary Supplements

	413

	X

	 





	Dietary Supplements

	403(s)

	 


	X




	Drugs & Devices

	501

	X

	 





	Drugs & Devices

	502

	 


	X




	Cosmetics

	601

	X

	 





	Cosmetics

	602

	 


	X




	Tobacco Products

	902

	X

	 





	Tobacco Products

	903

	 


	X







Source: 21 U.S.C. §§ 301 et. seq.





General Questions About the Enforcement of the FD&C Act

This section answers several basic and overarching questions about the Act's enforcement.

Who Enforces the FD&C Act?

Established under FD&C Act Section 1003, the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA) is the primary agency that administers and enforces the Act.30 Generally, FDA's mission is to promote and protect public health by ensuring the safety, efficacy, and truthful labeling of products subject to the Act.31 Consistent with this mission, FDA is statutorily empowered to provide administrative guidance on the FD&C Act's broad mandates32 and to enforce the Act through administrative actions. For example, before certain articles may lawfully be sold in interstate commerce, FDA must rigorously review them to ensure that they meet certain standards, such as being safe and effective for their intended use.33 In addition to such pre-market authority, FDA also possesses significant post-market authority to monitor regulated products that have entered interstate commerce to ensure the product continues to adhere to the Act.34 For example, the Act empowers FDA to request information from pharmaceutical manufacturers,35 to inspect food producer facilities,36 or to order recalls of medical devices that may cause "serious, adverse health consequences."37 The FD&C Act also authorizes FDA to "conduct examinations and investigations" to administer the Act,38 to disseminate information about regulated products involving "imminent danger to health" or "gross deception to the consumer,"39 and to publicize information on all formal enforcement actions resolved in court.40 FDA also uses "other enforcement tools not detailed in the FD&C Act," such as issuing warning and information letters to regulated entities that are violating the Act.41 These practices are discussed later in this report.42

FDA, however, is not the only federal agency that enforces the FD&C Act. Indeed, while FDA has significant authority to promote compliance with and to investigate violations of the Act, FDA, like most executive agencies, does not have independent litigating authority.43 Thus, to address noncompliance, FDA must coordinate with the Department of Justice (DOJ) to enforce the Act through product seizures, injunctions, civil penalty proceedings, or criminal prosecutions.44 To this end, when FDA discovers that the Act has been or is being violated, the relevant FDA district office, in consultation with FDA's Office of the Chief Counsel, generally evaluates the violation and determines whether to refer it to DOJ's Office of Consumer Litigation (OCL).45 The OCL and DOJ's field representative, the U.S. Attorney for the judicial district in which FDA anticipates seeking judicial relief, in consultation with FDA, ultimately decide whether to seek judicial relief on behalf of FDA.46

In addition to DOJ, several other agencies have FD&C Act enforcement roles. To administer federal laws relating to imports, exports, and duties, the U.S. Customs and Border Protection (CBP) "must work in close cooperation" with FDA to prevent articles that violate the FD&C Act from entering the United States.47 As a result, CBP alerts FDA when an FD&C Act-regulated product arrives at a port of entry. If FDA finds the product's importation would violate the Act, FDA asks CBP to issue a "Notice of Refusal of Admission" to the importer and to destroy any shipment that is not exported within 90 days.48

More broadly, because the Act covers a range of products and subject matters, other federal and state agencies have roles in regulating FD&C Act-covered products. For example, under the Act, FDA is to ensure that drug and device manufacturers properly label their products so as not to mislead consumers,49 a power that courts have broadly interpreted to allow FDA to regulate advertising relating to drugs or medical devices.50 However, the Federal Trade Commission (FTC), an independent agency tasked with promoting economic competition and consumer protection by eliminating "unfair or deceptive" acts or practices,51 likewise has authority over advertising of goods, including drugs and medical devices, in interstate commerce.52 Because their jurisdictions overlap, FDA and FTC have entered into a memorandum of understanding (MOU) regarding their respective authorities over the marketing of FD&C Act-regulated products.53 As a consequence, FTC is the primary agency overseeing over-the-counter drugs and medical device advertising.54

FDA has also entered into MOUs with other government agencies, including the U.S. Department of Agriculture (USDA),55 the Department of the Treasury,56 the Department of Defense (DoD),57 and the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC).58 Other "principal cooperating agencies" that FDA works with include the Environmental Protection Agency, the Consumer Product Safety Commission, the Drug Enforcement Administration, the National Institutes of Health, the Nuclear Regulatory Commission, the Office of Management and Budget, and the Securities and Exchange Commission.59 In addition, the FD&C Act authorizes state governments, working in conjunction with FDA, to enforce certain aspects of the Act.60 In short, while FDA is the primary agency enforcing the FD&C Act, other entities have roles.

Significantly, the FD&C Act does not contain a private right of action under which members of the public can sue to enforce the Act.61 Instead, under the FD&C Act, generally all proceedings "for the enforcement, or to restrain violations, of" the Act must be in the name of the United States.62 As the Supreme Court has noted, "the [FD&C Act] and its regulations provide the United States with nearly exclusive enforcement authority," and "[p]rivate parties may not bring enforcement suits."63 While the Supreme Court has recognized that private lawsuits can be used to enforce laws with mandates similar to those of the FD&C Act,64 the onus for enforcing the Act lies almost exclusively with the federal government.

What is FDA's Enforcement Jurisdiction?

FDA's regulatory authority comes from Congress's constitutional power to regulate interstate commerce.65 Article I, Section 8, Clause 3 of the U.S. Constitution grants Congress power "[t]o regulate commerce with foreign nations, and among the several States, and with the Indian Tribes."66 While early 20th century case law interpreted the Commerce Clause narrowly to preclude federal regulation of local economic activity that had only "indirect" impacts on interstate commerce,67 in 1937, the Supreme Court began reading the Commerce Clause more expansively,68 finding Congress to have power to regulate intrastate economic activity that has "a substantial effect on interstate commerce."69 The Court's expansive interpretations of the Commerce Clause have led one commentator to state that "Congress ... appears to retain virtually unlimited power to regulate even the wholly intrastate production and sale of food, drugs, devices, and cosmetics."70

A product's nexus with interstate commerce may arise from many activities. For example, an individual can "introduce" an adulterated good into interstate commerce by directly selling and shipping the good into another state, contracting to do so, or even by selling or shipping a good with the knowledge that it will enter another state.71 Moreover, an individual can violate the Act by selling or "holding for sale" a misbranded article after its shipment in interstate commerce "without regard to how long after the shipment the misbranding occurred, how many intrastate sales had intervened, or who had received the articles at the end of the interstate shipment."72 Under the most expansive interpretations of the FD&C Act, courts have held that FDA has jurisdiction over products that contain only a single ingredient that was shipped in interstate commerce.73 Thus, although Congress has not provided FDA with all Congress's commerce clause, the FD&C Act's reach, which extends to any intrastate economic activities having a substantial effect on interstate commerce,74 is significant. As a consequence, recent federal court decisions have found that the FD&C Act requirement that articles be in interstate commerce poses "no obstacle" to FDA enforcing the Act with respect to seemingly wholly intrastate activities.75

FDA authority to apply the FD&C Act to seemingly wholly intrastate activities is limited: the FD&C Act applies only to certain articles. For example, prior to enactment of the Family Smoking Prevention and Tobacco Control Act of 2009,76 the FD&C Act did not appear to authorize FDA to regulate tobacco products expressly. In 1996, FDA issued regulations governing "access to and promotion of nicotine-containing cigarettes and smokeless tobacco to children and adolescents" on the grounds that nicotine is a "drug."77 In FDA v. Brown & Williamson Tobacco Corp., the Supreme Court rejected FDA's argument, holding that Congress had "clearly precluded the FDA from asserting jurisdiction over tobacco products."78 While Congress has since provided FDA with explicit statutory authority to regulate tobacco products,79 Brown & Williamson illustrates that FDA's authority under the Act has limits.80

Does FDA Address Every Violation of the FD&C Act?

Given the breadth of articles that the FD&C Act regulates and the reach of FDA's enforcement authority, questions often arise as to whether FDA has discretion over initiating enforcement proceedings under the Act. The Supreme Court discussed FDA's enforcement discretion in Heckler v. Cheney.81 In Heckler, a death row inmate sentenced to die by lethal injection petitioned FDA to take enforcement actions against state officials who were administering the drug cocktail to be used in the execution.82 The petitioner argued that the injection would constitute use of a misbranded drug, as using the drug cocktail for a human execution was an "unapproved use of an approved drug" in violation of Sections 301(a) and 502(f) of the FD&C Act.83 The Supreme Court did not address the merits of the petitioner's misbranding argument, unanimously holding that FDA generally has "absolute discretion" over whether to prosecute or enforce FD&C Act violations through civil or criminal processes.84 For the Court, the FD&C Act's general enforcement provision, Section 702, was permissive in nature, merely "authorizing" the Secretary of Health and Human Services (and through a delegation of that authority, the Commissioner of FDA) "to conduct examinations and investigations for the purposes of" the Act, and indicated Congress's intent to give FDA discretion over initiating enforcement proceedings.85 Described as the "high-water mark of FDA discretionary selection of remedies," Heckler established that FDA has discretion over FD&C Act enforcement.86

Notwithstanding Heckler's holding, the Supreme Court recognized that an executive agency's nonenforcement decisions are only "presumptively" unreviewable.87 Put another way, the presumption that an executive agency has enforcement discretion "may be rebutted where the substantive statute has provided guidelines for the agency to follow in exercising its enforcement powers."88 Courts have found that the presumption against reviewing FDA's Section 702 enforcement decisions does not apply to other FD&C Act provisions. For example, in Cook v. FDA, a case similar to Heckler, a group of death row inmates sued FDA for allowing several state correctional facilities to import sodium thiopental, arguing that the drug, as used in lethal injections, was "a misbranded and unapproved new drug" and its import into the country violated Section 801 of the FD&C Act.89 In ruling against FDA, the D.C. Circuit Court of Appeals distinguished Heckler, noting that Section 801 mandates that, when FDA, through CBP, identifies certain imported drugs that are adulterated, misbranded, or unapproved, the drugs "shall be refused admission," and that this language "unambiguously imposes mandatory duties upon FDA" to refuse admission to the drugs.90 In other words, while Heckler recognized that FDA had significant discretion over enforcing Section 702, in Cook, the D.C. Circuit held that Congress had limited FDA's discretion over enforcing Section 801.91

FDA's enforcement discretion is central to many of the most contentious political disputes surrounding the agency. FDA is often faced with the difficult decision of whether to "ignore a safety issue and [potentially] precipitate deaths through nonfeasance" or "shut down an entire industry within a week through maximum sanctions."92 FDA has set enforcement priorities through policy statements, such as choosing to take actions against drugs with safety risks before taking actions against drugs that lack proof of effectiveness.93 The agency's enforcement discretion is of "perennial" interest to Congress.94

Civil Enforcement of the FD&C Act

Enforcement actions for FD&C Act violations can be civil or criminal in nature. Absent DOJ involvement, FDA has several administrative tools for enforcing the Act, including warning and untitled letters, import alerts, recalls, debarments, and civil money penalties. FDA's other civil enforcement actions, including injunctions and seizures, require DOJ assistance.

Warning and Untitled Letters

Although not required by law, depending on the type of FD&C Act violation and the public health threat, FDA usually provides individuals or firms with an opportunity to comply voluntarily before initiating other enforcement actions.95 FDA does this by issuing "advisory action letters," also referred to as "regulatory letters," which include both "warning" and "untitled" letters.96

FDA issues warning letters to alert individuals or firms that the agency has identified "violations of regulatory significance" and to request corrective action, with the expectation that most recipients will voluntarily come into compliance with the law.97 While warning letters may include notice of FDA's intention to take further enforcement actions if the recipient does not comply, FDA considers these letters to be informal and advisory in nature.98 Consequently, FDA has maintained that warning letters do not constitute "final agency action,"99  a prerequisite for filing a lawsuit against a federal agency under the Administrative Procedure Act (APA).100 Courts have largely agreed with FDA's position, holding that an APA suit may not be based on a warning letter.101

Similarly, FDA considers untitled letters to be advisory and uses them to address violations that do not merit a warning letter.102 For example, FDA may issue an untitled letter to a firm when its promotional materials omit certain risk information and are misleading.103 Alternatively, FDA may issue a warning letter if FDA had previously communicated the same concerns to the firm, if the promotional materials failed to include any risk information at all, or if the risks omitted are particularly serious.104 Untitled letters do not include a warning that failure to comply may result in subsequent enforcement action.105 Because untitled letters are less serious than warning letters, it is unlikely that recipients could challenge untitled letters under the APA as final agency action.106

Import Alerts

FDA bases its authority to issue import alerts, or automatic detention lists, on Section 801(a) of the FD&C Act, which provides that articles "appear[ing], from samples or otherwise," to violate the Act "shall be refused admission" into the United States.107 Thus, if persuasive evidence exists, such as a history of violations or a failed facility inspection,108 that an article may violate the FD&C Act, FDA may place that entity or product on an import alert list to communicate to border officials that such articles should be automatically detained without physical examination until further notice.109 Once articles are detained, the owner or consignee has the opportunity to testify on the articles' admissibility.110 Depending on this information, FDA may either permit or refuse the articles' entry into the United States.111

FDA's use of import alerts to detain articles automatically prior to inspection has been challenged in court, primarily on procedural grounds. Plaintiffs have generally prevailed in cases where FDA effectively used an import alert to change the rules of admissibility for a range of products without prior notice. For example, in Bellarno International Ltd.v. FDA, a federal district court in New York held that FDA violated the APA by failing to conduct notice-and-comment rulemaking procedures prior to instituting a rule, by way of an import alert, that required articles to have a complete chain of custody prior to entry.112 Finding that the rule provided no enforcement discretion and was, therefore, a "substantive rule of general applicability ... rather than a discretionary statement of policy,"113 the court held that the rule was subject to APA-required notice-and-comment rulemaking.114 Likewise, in Benten v. Kessler, a district court determined that an import alert, banning abortifacient drugs previously admissible under the agency's personal importation policy, constituted a substantive rule subject to notice-and-comment rulemaking because it was essentially binding in its effect, leaving no room for enforcement discretion.115

Alternatively, FDA has prevailed when it used import alerts to identify and detain articles suspected of violating existing rules. For instance, in Seabrook International Foods Inc. v. Harris, a federal district court in the District of Columbia held that "[section 801 (a) of the FD&C Act] authorizes the [refusal of] admission of an article, without the introduction of testimony or evidence, as long as that article 'appears' to be adulterated."116 Accordingly, the court held that, because FDA officials had already identified a number of Indian shrimp facilities as having sanitation issues, the agency was "justified in concluding that the shrimp 'appeared' adulterated and should be barred [absent any] satisfactory showing by the importer that it was not harvested from or packed in the insanity sites earlier observed by FDA inspectors in India."117

Recalls

FD&C Act regulated articles that are already in distribution may be "recalled" or removed from market if FDA identifies FD&C Act violations that present consumer safety issues.118 Recalls may be more efficient than other formal or administrative processes for removing potentially hazardous products from market and alerting the public, thereby creating additional incentive for companies to comply with the Act.119

Recalls may be voluntary or mandatory.120 Most recalls are voluntary121—that is, either requested by FDA or initiated by the firm or manufacturer itself.122 Firms or manufacturers must report any voluntary recalls they initiate to FDA and are subject to agency oversight.123 FDA can request a recall when it determines that a regulated product in distribution presents a "risk of illness, injury, or gross consumer deception" that necessitates agency action to protect public health.124 FDA typically requests recalls in urgent situations where FDA has evidence to support formal legal action, such as seizure.125 While a firm may disregard an FDA-requested recall, it does so at the risk of a subsequent FDA enforcement action. Alternatively, FDA has limited authority to mandate or order a firm to recall its products. More specifically, when certain criteria are met, FDA has mandatory recall authority over medical devices,126 biological products,127 human tissue intended for transplantation,128 infant formula,129 tobacco products,130 and foods,131 but it does not have mandatory recall authority over drug products.132 The procedures for mandatory recalls depend upon the product at issue, but generally, FDA institutes a mandatory recall by issuing an administrative order, which provides the recipient an opportunity to present its views on the order at an informal hearing before a presiding officer.133

Debarment

Under section 306 of the FD&C Act, FDA is authorized to "debar" or prohibit corporations or individuals from participating in certain FDA-regulated activities based on their related conduct.134 For example, FDA may debar a clinical investigator, who was convicted of falsifying records in a clinical study, from "providing any services in any capacity to a person that has an approved or pending drug product application."135 Because debarment poses significant consequences for those participating in FDA-regulated industries, possibly necessitating career changes, debarment appears to create strong incentives to comply with the FD&C Act.136

The FD&C Act sets forth two types of debarment—mandatory and permissive.137 The statute also describes the criteria applying to individuals and corporations involved in the drug industry, as well as food importers.138 For mandatory debarment, debarment is permanent. For permissive debarment, debarment is for a period of "not more than five years," the length of which is based on six factors.139 FDA provides a notice of proposal for debarment to persons it seeks to debar, who may then request a hearing to show why debarment is not appropriate.140 Persons subject to permissive debarment may apply for a termination of debarment.141 Persons subject to debarment may also petition the United States Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia or the circuit in which they reside to review whether the debarment should be modified or set aside.142

Civil Money Penalties

Under the FD&C Act, FDA may impose monetary civil penalties143 for specified violations of the Act. These include violations relating to prescription drug marketing practices,144 medical devices,145 electronic products,146 tobacco products,147 pesticide residues in food,148 generic drug applications,149 and improper dissemination of direct-to-consumer advertisements for approved drugs or biological products.150 The maximum penalty that FDA may assess ranges from approximately $1,000 to over $1 million per violation depending on the prohibited act.151 To determine the penalty for many violations, the agency must consider the nature and circumstances surrounding the violation, the person's ability to pay, the effect on the person's ability to continue to do business, and any history of similar acts.152 FDA may assess penalties against both individuals and corporations.

If FDA finds that a monetary civil penalty is warranted, it may assess the penalty absent DOJ's or the courts' involvement.153 Under FDA's regulations, FDA initiates a penalty proceeding by serving a complaint that alleges that the recipient is violating the Act and seeks a civil money penalty.154 The recipient must answer the complaint and may request a hearing on it.155 Following the hearing, an administrative law judge renders a decision, which may be appealed to the Department of Health and Human Service's Departmental Appeals Board (DAB).156 A decision by the DAB is considered final agency action ripe for judicial review.157

Seizures

To prevent harmful goods from reaching consumers, the FD&C Act provides for the seizure of foods, drugs, devices, cosmetics, and tobacco products that are adulterated or misbranded.158 According to a House report accompanying the FD&C Act, a seizure is considered the harshest civil remedy under the Act, and "should be discouraged or confined to those cases where the public protection requires such action."159 Seizures may be small, involving only a specific lot or batch of defective products, or large,160 involving multiple seizure actions filed simultaneously in various locations and potentially halting the national distribution of a product.161

While FDA lacks authority to seize products, the U.S. Attorney may take such actions based on FDA's recommendation. In general, the U.S. Attorney commences a seizure action by filing a complaint in federal court on behalf of FDA  and obtaining a warrant that directs the U.S. Marshal to take custody of the  goods.162 FDA is not obligated to notify a manufacturer that its products violate the FD&C Act before undertaking a seizure action, and the Supreme Court has found that seizing products without a prior judicial hearing does not raise due process concerns.163

Under the FD&C Act,  when a product may be seized depends on the product type and the alleged violation.164  In general, seizure proceedings involving food, drugs, and cosmetics may be initiated "when introduced into or while in interstate commerce or while held for sale ... after shipment in interstate commerce."165  However, for counterfeit drugs and the materials used to make them, as well as adulterated or misbranded medical devices and tobacco products, seizure may occur at any time (and before a complaint is filed).166  With some exceptions, FDA may not initiate seizure actions against a food that is misbranded due to its advertising, or that is being sold to consumers in an establishment not owned or operated by the food's manufacturer, packer, or distributor.167

If goods are seized, a company with an ownership interest in the goods has the option of claiming the article and contesting the seizure by filing an answer to the complaint.168  Often, the company will have the option of filing a claim to the article while admitting the violation and entering into a Consent Decree with the government.169 It has been noted that more than 90% of FDA seizure actions are not contested.170

Injunctions

The FD&C Act authorizes federal district courts to issue injunctions to prevent violations of the Act.171 Under the Act, injunctions are used to stem the flow of adulterated, misbranded, or otherwise violative goods in interstate commerce and to correct conditions causing violations.172 Injunctions can take the form of a prohibition, such as an order not to distribute a product, or a command to take certain actions, such as an order to clean a facility.173  Injunctions may be temporary or permanent in nature.

According to FDA guidance, an injunction "may be considered for any significant out-of-compliance circumstance, but particularly when a health hazard has been identified."174 FDA has indicated that an injunction is the agency's remedy of choice when there are


	current and definite health hazards or a gross consumer deception requiring immediate action to stop the violative practice and a seizure is impractical;

	significant amounts of violative products owned by the same person, a voluntary recall by the firm was refused or is significantly inadequate to protect the public, and a seizure is impractical or uneconomical; or

	long-standing (chronic) violative practices that have not produced a health hazard or consumer fraud, but which have not been corrected through use of voluntary or other regulatory approaches.175



Similar to seizures, injunctions involve FDA and DOJ cooperation. Based on FDA's recommendation, the U.S. Attorney files, in federal court, to enjoin an individual or company from violating the Act.176 In general, courts have granted injunctions when DOJ has demonstrated that the defendants violated and are likely to continue to violate the FD&C Act.177  If the court enters an injunction, the individual or company must comply immediately, unless it obtains a stay of the court order, pending an appeal. Most injunction cases under the FD&C Act are resolved through the entry of a negotiated consent decree.178

Criminal Enforcement of the FD&C Act

In addition to civil enforcement mechanisms, the FD&C Act also subjects individuals to criminal penalties, including fines and imprisonment, for violating certain provisions of the Act.179 Criminal prosecutions under the FD&C Act are rare, with one commentator finding that "only a miniscule fraction of 1 per cent of the [FDA's] inspections will result in criminal prosecution,"180 and "extremely technical infractions" of the Act are very unlikely to result in criminal punishment.181 According to FDA's enforcement manual, the agency usually affords individuals and firms an opportunity to comply voluntarily prior to initiating a criminal prosecution, as long as "a violative situation does not present a danger to health or does not constitute intentional, gross or flagrant violations."182 Although criminal prosecutions are rare under the Act, the threat of criminal penalties may create incentives to comply.183 Whereas economic penalties resulting from the civil enforcement tools "might ... be seen as merely an extra cost of business" for an entity regulated under the FD&C Act, criminal penalties potentially threaten the liberty of individuals such as the "factory manager, the corporate chief executive, or the researcher."

FDA's Office of Criminal Investigations (OCI) is the primary entity that investigates suspected criminal violations of the FD&C Act and related laws.184 If OCI finds prosecution to be appropriate, FDA may give the alleged violator notice and an opportunity to present his "views ... with regard to such contemplated proceeding" pursuant to Section 305.185 Although the Supreme Court has held that hearings are not required,186 FDA generally provides hearings absent a regulatory bar.187 If prosecution is appropriate, OCI makes a recommendation to DOJ, which has authority to prosecute FD&C Act violations.188 DOJ, including the local U.S. Attorney's office, then reviews FDA's recommendation and, if warranted, institutes criminal proceedings against the alleged violator.189 While DOJ has discretion to reject FDA's recommendation, DOJ will typically "adhere to the recommendations of the FDA" and "act, as closely as possible, in partnership with attorneys from the FDA."190

Criminal Violations of the FD&C Act

Under the FD&C Act, criminal convictions generally require proof of three elements. First, the government must prove that the article, which the statutory violation concerns, is either a "food," "drug," "device," "tobacco," or "cosmetic."191 Second, the article at issue generally192 must be "adulterated" or "misbranded."193 Third, the article at issue must have been introduced into interstate commerce.194 Importantly, contrary to the typical requirement of American criminal law, FD&C Act criminal provisions do not include a mens rea or "guilty mind" requirement.195 Instead, the standard for criminal liability under the FD&C Act is strict liability, such that a defendant can be held criminally liable without proof of knowledge of the event or intention to perform the act that results in a violation.196

Two Supreme Court cases established this principle. In United States v. Dotterweich, Justice Frankfurter, writing for a five-member majority, explained that the FD&C Act "dispenses with the conventional requirement for criminal conduct awareness of some wrongdoing"197 and that criminal accountability extends to all who have "a responsible share in the furtherance of the transaction which the statute outlaws."198 The Court reasoned that the strict liability standard was necessary because "[i]n the interest of the larger good [the Act placed] the burden of acting at hazard upon a person otherwise innocent but standing in responsible relation to a public danger."199 Over thirty years later, in United States v. Park, the Supreme Court reaffirmed Dotterweich. In articulating what is known as the "responsible corporate officer" or "Park" doctrine, the Court held that a showing of criminal liability under the FD&C Act did not require an "awareness of some wrongdoing" by the defendant, but instead merely required the defendant to be in a "position in [a] corporation" in which he had "responsibility and authority either to prevent in the first instance, or promptly to correct, the violation complained of, and that he failed to do so."200 In so holding, the Court noted that while the strict liability standard imposed by the FD&C Act is "beyond question demanding" the standard is "no more stringent" than what should be expected of "those who voluntarily assume positions of authority in business enterprises whose services and products affect the health and well-being of the public that supports them."201

While the lack of a mens rea element in FD&C Act criminal cases could theoretically allow FDA and DOJ to "bring a criminal action ... in virtually every serious case" of an FD&C Act violation,202 two defenses may diminish the potential reach of the Act's criminal sanctions. First, an individual accused of an FD&C Act crime could raise the affirmative defense of "impossibility." The "impossibility defense" is available to a corporate officer who can introduce evidence that "he exercised extraordinary care, but was nevertheless unable to prevent violations of [the FD&C Act]."203 Upon such a showing, the burden of proof then shifts to the government to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the officer was not actually powerless to prevent or correct the violation.204 Second, under the "guaranty clause" contained in Section 303(c) of the FD&C Act, a person who in "good faith" merely receives and later delivers an illegal article cannot be subjected to criminal penalties under the Act.205 Likewise, a person who introduced a misbranded or adulterated product into commerce is also exempt under Section 303(c) if that person received the article in "good faith" and has obtained a written guaranty that the product does not violate the Act.206 Under the guaranty clause, pharmacists who, in good faith, distributed misbranded or adulterated drugs from a drug manufacturer or distributor have escaped criminal liability.207

Criminal Penalties Resulting from an FD&C Act Violation

Under Section 303(a)(1) of the FD&C Act, criminal violations of the Act are generally treated as misdemeanors,208 meaning they are punishable by a fine or imprisonment of a year or less.209 Nonetheless, FD&C Act violations may constitute a felony if the violation is a second offense or is done with the "intent to defraud or mislead."210 For a defendant to act with an "intent to defraud or mislead" under the Act, the defendant must "design[] his conduct to avoid the regulatory scrutiny of the FDA,"211 meaning that, for a defendant to incur a felony conviction under the Act, he must have intended to defraud or mislead not only the product's ultimate consumers but also state and federal government enforcement agencies.212

Section 303(a) establishes default criminal penalties for individuals who commit misdemeanors or felonies under the FD&C Act.213 The Act provides for a $1,000 fine, imprisonment of up to one year, or both for simple violations of the Act.214 The Act further provides for fines of up to $10,000, imprisonment for up to three years, or both for subsequent convictions or convictions demonstrating intent to defraud or mislead.215 However, under the Sentencing Reform Act of 1984, as amended by the Criminal Fines Improvement Act of 1987, all criminal fines in the United States Code, including FD&C Act fines, are subject to modification to achieve certain uniform levels.216 Consequently, for FD&C Act misdemeanors not resulting in death, the current maximum fine for an individual is $100,000,217 while for FD&C Act misdemeanors resulting in death or for FD&C Act felonies, the current maximum fine for an individual is $250,000.218 Likewise, for FD&C Act misdemeanors, the current maximum fine for an organization is $200,000219 while, for FD&C Act misdemeanors resulting in death or for FD&C Act felonies, the current maximum fine for an organization is $500,000.220

Pursuant to the U.S. Sentencing Guidelines, defendants convicted of violating the Act receive a base offense level of six,221 resulting in a guideline recommendation of a final sentence of zero to eighteen months in prison, depending on the defendant's criminal history.222 If the defendant had previously violated the Act or if the offense involved fraud, the sentence could increase considerably.223 The Sentencing Guidelines also provide that an "upward departure" "may be warranted" if the offense "created a substantial risk of bodily injury or death; or bodily injury, death, extreme psychological injury, property damage, or monetary loss resulted from the offense."224
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